CELLULAR ACTIVATION MECHANISMS IN SEPTIC SHOCK

Jocelyn S. Downey and Jiahuai Han

Department of Immunology, The Scripps Research Institute, 10550 North Torrey Pines Road, La Jolla, CA 92037

Received 4/20/98 Accepted 4/23/98

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Activation of MAP kinase pathways
 - 3.1. ERK
 - 3.2. JNK
 - 3.3. p38 MAP kinases
 - 3.4,. Coordination of MAP kinase pathways following LPS stimulation
- 4. Protein kinase C
- 5. Src family kinases
- 6. NF-kB
- 7. Miscellaneous effects of LPS
- 8. Conclusions
- 9. Acknowledgements
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Septic shock is an increasingly important clinical condition, characterized by systemic hypotension, ischemia, and ultimately organ failure. In Gram negative the bacterial cell wall component. lipopolysaccharide (endotoxin, LPS), has been strongly linked to the pathophysiological responses that result in septic shock. LPS is bound in plasma to a protein called LPS-binding protein (LBP), which facilitates the binding of LPS to a cell surface receptor, CD14. Binding to CD14 stimulates cell signaling mechanisms that result in the production of inflammatory cytokines. However, the events which follow LPS binding to CD14 and which lead to the production of cytokines remain unclear. It has recently become evident that a number of phosphorylation cascades including MAP kinase pathways and NF-кВ activation pathway are initiated by exposure of cells to LPS. These cascades act at both the transcriptional and translational levels to regulate cytokine production. This review will focus on the signaling pathways that are initiated by LPS and the cellular effects of the signaling pathways.

2. INTRODUCTION

Septic shock is a systemic inflammatory response associated with around 100,000 deaths annually in the United States, characterized by fever, hypotension, disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), and multiorgan failure (1). Infections by Gram positive bacteria and fungi as well as Gram negative organisms, can result in septic shock. In Gram negative disease, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is strongly implicated in the physiological responses resulting from sepsis (2). Cells of the immune system respond to LPS through a pathway involving a plasma-

protein, named LPS-binding protein (LPB), and the CD14 receptor, which may be glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored (mCD14) or soluble (sCD14) (3). Binding of LPS to mCD14 on myeloid cells leads to cellular activation and the production of various proinflammatory molecules, while a soluble CD14-LPS complex participates in the activation of cells that do not bear the anchored form - such as endothelial, epithelial, and smooth muscle cells (3). In contrast with what has been learned about how LPS interacts with cells, much less is known about how Gram positive bacteria stimulate cells. There is some evidence that components of Gram-positive bacteria activate monocytic cell lines by a CD14-dependant mechanism. However, CD14 independent activation of monocytes by Gram positive cell wall components has also been reported, and the integrin, L-selectin, has recently been proposed to act as a low affinity receptor for LPS (4). Regardless of the nature of infection the mediators in the progression of septic shock are believed to be the proinflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin-1 (IL-1) and interleukin-8 (IL-8), along with nitric oxide (NO), produced both by cells of the immune system and by vascular endothelial cells (5-8). In recent years, intracellular signal transduction pathways that lead to cytokine production within cells of monocytic lineage have been extensively studied. This review will focus on the intracellular activation mechanisms that are initiated by LPS, and the biological consequences of cellular activation.

3. ACTIVATION OF MAP KINASE PATHWAYS.

Mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) are a family of proteins involved in intracellular signaling. Mammalian MAP kinases can be divided into four groups

based on their structure and function: extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK) (9), c-Jun N-terminal kinase or stress activated protein kinase (JNK or SAPK) (10,11), ERK5 or BMK (12,13), and p38 group (14-16). A variety of extracellular stimuli produce cellular responses via activation of the MAP kinase cascades (9,17-20). It would therefore not be surprising to find them involved in mediating LPS effects within cells. To date three MAP kinase pathways, ERK, JNK, and p38, have been reported to be activated by LPS stimulation in macrophages.

3.1 ERK

ERK is the first group of MAP kinase that was found to be activated by LPS stimulation. Using an antiphosphotyrosine antibody, Weinstein *et al* detected rapid (4-5 min) tyrosine phosphorylation of 39-, 41-, and 44-kDa proteins within LPS stimulated macrophages (21). Two of these tyrosine phosphorylated proteins were subsequently identified as p42, (ERK2) and p44 (ERK1) (22). Activation of ERKs can occur via the upstream effector, Ras. Upon stimulation, Ras interacts with the NH₂-terminal domain of Raf-1, leading to its recruitment to the plasma-membrane, whereupon Raf-1 is phosphorylated by another kinase. Once activated, Raf-1 may phosphorylate MAP kinase kinase-1 (MKK-1, also known as MEK), which in turn, phosphorylates ERK.

What then is known about the events following the activation of MAP kinase pathways? A number of proteins have been identified as ERK substrates, including the transcription factors ELK-1 and c-Myc, cytoplasmic proteins such as cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2), and several protein kinases including p90 ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK also known as MAPKAPK1), MAP kinase activated protein kinase 3 (MAPKAPK3) (also known as 3pK) as well as the recently described MAP kinase interacting kinase 1 and 2 (MNK1/2) (9,23-25). Phosphorylation of ELK-1 and c-Myc could regulate the transcription activity of these transcription factors, however, the linkage between the activation of transcription factors by ERK and LPS induced cytokine expression has not yet been established. The downstream protein kinases of ERK should diversify ERK signal via their substrates. Phosphorylation of translational initiation factor eIF-4e by Mnk may participate in translational regulation of cytokine expression. Phosphorylation of phospholipase A2 certainly plays a role in inflammatory responses because it leads to the production arachidonic acid, which can activate nonclassical PKC isoforms, and is the precursor of the eicosanoids.

On exposure to LPS, ERK-1/2 and its upstream activator, MEK-1 have been shown to be activated in monocytes, where ERK activation is absent in C3H/HeJ mice, a spontaneous mouse mutant which does not produce TNF α or IL-1 β in response to LPS treatment (26). Both of these pieces of evidence indicate that ERKs may be involved in the signaling pathway that results in cytokine synthesis following LPS treatment. The Ras and Raf-1 components of the ERK cascade have been suggested to be necessary for LPS-stimulated TNF α production. This was

shown from the ability of LPS to induce rapid phosphorylation of Raf-1 in macrophages, activating the MEK-1/ERK pathway. Expression of dominant negative forms of Ras and Raf-1 in macrophages also indicated their involvement in LPS-mediated cell signaling because dominant negative mutants of Ras or Raf-1 can inhibit LPS-stimulated TNFα production (26,27). However, while upregulation of Raf-1 has been shown to strongly activate ERK1 and ERK2, it causes only a small increase in TNFα mRNA expression, and protein secretion. Thus the ERK pathway only partially mimics LPS effects, implying that other signaling pathways triggered by LPS may also play a role. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that LPS stimulation leads to the activation of multiple signal pathways, including JNK, and p38 MAP kinase pathways (14,28,29).

3.2 JNK

Both JNK1 and JNK2 have been reported to be activated in LPS treated macrophages (28,29). As their name indicates, the JNK proteins are associated with the phosphorylation of c-Jun (10.11). In addition, other transcription factors, including activating transcription factor-2 (ATF-2), and ternary complex factor (TCF) have been reported to be downstream targets for JNK (30-32). c-Jun can complex with c-fos or ATF2 which constitutes AP-1 or CRE binding activity. TCF mediated c-fos expression also influences c-Jun/c-fos dimer formation which would have impact on AP-1 binding activity. Since AP-1 and CRE sites are found in many cytokine promoters including TNF, regulation of AP-1 and/or CRE binding activity by JNK pathway plays important role in LPS induced cytokine expression. In addition, c-Jun complexes have been shown to act synergistically with NF-κB in LPS-treated monocytes to enhance the induction of TNF α (33).

Activation of JNK proteins inside cells is believed to occur through dual tyrosine and threonine phosphorylation by MKK4 (also known as SEK1, JNKK1) and MKK7 (also known as JNKK2) (34,35). MKK4 can be activated by MEKK1 (36). Thus, the sequential activation pathway may take the following route: MEKK1→MKK4/7→JNK. Events further upstream of this pathway appear to be cell type and stimuli dependent. Activation of JNK cascade by EGF or v-Src requires functional Ras. Other members of the Ras superfamily of small G proteins, Rac and Cdc42, are more effective JNK activators than Ras and can act synergistically with Ras. Once activated, Cdc42 and Rac bind and activate a protein kinase PAK1 which in turn can activate the JNK cascade (19). The upstream elements of JNK pathway in LPS stimulated macrophages have not been uncovered.

3.3 p38 MAP kinases

p38 (or p38 α , also known as CSBP and RK) was initially isolated and cloned through a study designed to identify proteins in macrophages and pre-B cells that tyrosine phosphorylated in response to LPS (14,37). p38 α was also cloned as a specific target of pyridinyl imidazole derivatives such as SB203580 which inhibit the production of proinflammatory cytokines by monocytes (38). Four isoforms of the p38 MAP kinases have been cloned and

characterized: p38 (p38a), p38β (39), p38gamma (also known as ERK6 or SAPK3) (40-42), and p38delta (also known as SAPK4) (43-45), each of which contains a TGY dual phosphorylation motif between domains VII and VIII distinguishing them from the ERK kinases (TEY) and JNK kinases (TPY). p38 α and p38 β are sensitive to SB203580 inhibition, but the activity of p38gamma and p38delta are unaffected (43). The p38 MAP kinases are thought to have evolved from an ancestral gene and are homologous to the kinase Hog1 in budding yeast and Spc1/Sty1 in fission yeast (46-48). A Xenopus p38 homologue, Mpk2, has also been cloned (15). p38 isoforms are activated by MKK3 or MKK6 (34). MKK6 can in turn be phosphorylated by MEKK5, such that the following linear pathway emerges: MEKK5 \rightarrow MKK3/6 \rightarrow p38. Other upstream activators of p38 activity may include members of the Rho GTP-binding protein family, Rac and Cdc42 (49). Rac and Cdc42 GTPases have been implicated to be activators for JNK pathway (50). The activation of p38 by these small Gproteins may also through a group of serine-threonine kinases known as p21-activated kinases (Paks) (49). Expression of dominant negative Cdc42, Rac, or Pak1 resulted in abolition of p38 activity in COS-7 and HeLa cells stimulated by IL-1 or ultraviolet light (49). The picture is further complicated by the discovery of other regulators of p38 activity, including MLK3, and DAK (51), which may, or may not fit into a single linear model of p38 activation. Whether these molecules are involved in LPS induced p38 activation still need further investigation. The molecular events which succeed LPS-CD14 engagement remain to be resolved. Several proteins have been identified as substrates of p38\alpha. These proteins include transcription factors such as CHOP10 (also known as GADD153) (52), MEF2C (53) and Sap1 in TCF (54-56), enzymes such as cPLA2 (57), and the protein kinases MAPKAPK2/3, MNK1/2 and PRAK (15,23,24,58-60). All four members of the p38 kinase family are able to phosphorylate the transcription factor activating transcription factor 2 (ATF2) In vitro(43). Although there is evidence that different p38 isoforms may have different functions, the activation of p38 isoforms other than $p38\alpha$ by LPS has not been investigated. The discovery of a specific inhibitor of p38 SB203580 has provided a useful tool for dissecting the role of p38 kinases in septic shock (61,62). Studies have demonstrated that inhibition of p38 in monocytes prevents LPS-stimulated production of IL-1 β and TNF (38,63). It is clear that p38 pathways play a crucial role in LPS induced cytokine expression. However, the precise mechanism by which p38 regulates cytokine gene expression is still uncertain. Activation of MEF2C by p38 should lead to upregulation of c-Jun expression which may influence formation of transcription complex c-Jun/c-Jun, c-Jun/c-fos and c-Jun/ATF2 (53). Thus p38 may indirectly regulate AP-1 and CRE binding activity in LPS treated macrophages. Studies using p38 specific inhibitor have demonstrated that the decrease of cytokine (such as IL-1) production resulting from p38 inhibition is an effect on translational control, because the mRNA level of IL-1 was not affected by blocking of p38α/β activity (63). A great deal of effort has been employed to study the translational regulation by p38 pathway, however, none of p38 substrates found so far have been linked to translational machinery. The downstream kinases of p38 may direct p38 effects to translational regulation, because Mnk has been shown to phosphorylate a translational initiation factor, eIF-4e at a physiological relevant phosphorylation site (23). Activation of kinases downstream of p38 may also direct p38 signal into the cytoskeleton via small heat shock protein phosphorylation. Whether these events occur in LPS treated macrophages and the role they may play in cytokine production still await further investigation.

Activation of p38 was also observed in other types of cells: p38, along with ERK1 and ERK2, has been shown to be activated in LPS-induced astrocytes, while in neutrophils, p38 is activated in the absence of ERK or JNK activation (64,65). It has been observed that exposing neutrophils to chemoattractants activates ERK and p38 kinases, and causes actin assembly, cell adherence, calcium influx, superoxide production and granule enzyme release (66). However, LPS treatment results in only p38 activity being up-regulated, and of the listed cellular responses only actin assembly and cell adherence occur (65). It is therefore possible that these may be as a result of p38 activation, since p38 has been associated with the phosphorylation of MAPKAP2, and its substrate, heat shock protein 27 (hsp27), linked to actin reorganization (67).

3.4 Coordination of MAP kinase pathways following LPS stimulation.

LPS stimulation of macrophages results in the activation of three different groups of MAP kinase: ERK, JNK, and p38. Although these kinase pathways are specifically regulated, they may integrate their function to a single target. An example of this is the regulation of ternary complex factor (TCF). Maximal c-Fos transcription is dependent on an upstream element, termed the serum response element (SRE) (68). This cis-element is constitutively bound to serum response factor (SRF) and TCF, which is composed of Elk-1, Sap-1a or Sap2. Elk-1 can be phosphorylated In vitro by JNK, ERK, and p38; and Sap-1a by ERK and p38 (54-56). In certain cell types such as NIH3T3 fibroblasts, both JNK and p38 are required for TCF activation, i.e. JNK and p38 function on a single target (55). The activation of c-Jun is classically associated with JNK, but p38 has also been shown to be involved in LPS-induced c-Jun expression that may influence c-Jun related transcription activities. Inhibition of MEK or p38 also has been shown to reduce stress-induced c-Jun and c-Fos transcription in NIH 3T3 and HeLa TKcells (56,69). Pathway synergy may additionally play a role in the expression of $TNF\alpha$ in response to LPS. Simultaneous activation of p38, JNK and ERK pathways by dominant active MKKs results in levels of TNFα reporter expression five fold higher than if a single pathway is active (Han et al, unpublished results).

4. PROTEIN KINASE C

It has been reported that PKC activation can be observed following LPS treatment, although the amplitude of activation is relatively low (2-fold). PKC refers in fact to

a family of mainly calcium- and phospholipid-dependent kinases catalyzing the phosphorylation of serine and threonine residues in proteins, and which differ in their tissue expression and reaction requirements (70). The group has been implicated in LPS mediated effects In vivo by Kozak et al. (71) who demonstrated the attenuation of LPS-induced pyrexia, and levels of circulating IL-6 in rats through the use of PKC inhibitors. In vitro experiments have shown that TNF α and IL-1 β secretion and mRNA accumulation within monocytes following LPS treatment is dependent on PKC activity (72). Treatment of monocytes with H-7, a PKC inhibitor with tyrosine phosphorylation stimulatory effects, or with the inhibitor, staurosporin, resulted in the inhibition of TNFα and IL-1β secretion by LPS-stimulated monocytes. Since anti-CD14 antibody prevents LPS-induced TNF production without affecting PKC activation, PKC activation may be a CD14independent pathway (73). It is clear that the PKC pathway had no effect on MAP kinase activation because activation of PKC also failed to stimulate tyrosine phosphorylation of MAP kinases (21), and PKC inhibitors have been shown to have no effect on the activity of MAPK, JNK, or p38 in stimulated macrophages. Recently, two separate groups have sought to uncover which PKC isoforms are associated with LPS treatment of monocytes. Based on earlier findings that the LPS-induced PKC activation did not require calcium or diacylglycerol (Liu et al, 1994), Herrera-Velit et al. (74) narrowed the search to PKC isoforms belonging to the atypical PKC subfamily (PKC -ζ, -λ, -ι). Fractionation of LPS-induced monocyte lysates by chromatography, and immunoblotting with anti-PKC- ζ antibodies demonstrated the presence of PKC- ζ at the peak of kinase activity. Activation of PKC- ζ is phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI 3-kinase) dependent (75). Another PKC isoform activated by LPS was identified by Shapira et al. (76) using biochemical and immunological approaches. Like PKC-ζ, PKC-ε does not require calcium. Unlike PKC-ζ, it is activated by diacylglycerol and is tissue restricted (70,77).

5. SRC FAMILY KINASES

While the mechanism by which CD14 communicates with the cytoplasm following LPS treatment has not yet been revealed, ®tefanov< et al (78) described the co-precipitation of members of the Src-protein tyrosine kinase family with CD14. It was further observed that LPS treatment of monocytes resulted in increased activity of these isolated Src-kinases (p53/56 lyn , p58/64 hck and p59 $^{c-fgr}$) combined with an associated increase in tyrosine phosphorylation of the proteins. The known involvement of Src-kinases in cell signal transduction combined with these data suggested that Src-kinases may be involved in communicating a signal from CD14 to the cytoplasm. More recently however, it has been shown that transgenic mice lacking expression of p53/56^{lyn}, p58/64^{hck} and p59^{c-fgr} still produce normal levels of cytokines, phosphorylation of MAPKs and activation of NF-κB following LPS stimulation (79). These Src-kinases do not therefore seem to be necessary for LPS-stimulated cytokine expression, although this does not exclude the possibility that they are

involved in other LPS-induced cellular responses, or that uncharacterized Src-kinases participate in CD14 mediated signal transduction.

6. NF-кВ

Nuclear factor -κB (NF-κB) is a ubiquitous transcription factor that is up-regulated in response to various stimuli, including LPS and TNFa. Its significance in septic shock can be highlighted by its activation in tissue following LPS treatment, and by the effect of its inhibition: selective inhibition of NF-κB in vivo, with pyrrolietine dithiocarbamate has been shown to reduce LPS-stimulated inducible NO synthesis and to prevent systemic hypotension associated with septic shock (8). Moreover, almost all genes central to the pathogenesis of septic shock contain promoter elements for NF-κB, such as TNFα, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2, which regulates prostaglandin synthesis from arachidonic acid). However, macrophages from C3H/HeJ LPS-hyporesponsive mice do not produce TNFα, but do activate normal levels of NF-κB in response to LPS, indicating that LPS-mediated cellular effects cannot be solely attributed to NF-κB alone (80).

NF-κB comprises a number proteins, p50/105, p65 (relA), p52/100, and RelB. These proteins homo- and heterodimerise to produce isoforms of NF-κB, the most abundant inducible form in mammals being p50/p65 (81). The dimer is retained in an inactive state in the cytoplasm through being sequestered by an inhibitor proteins, I-kB, which bind NF-κB, and mask the nuclear localization signal, preventing its nuclear translocation (82). Phosphorylation of I-κB at serines 32 and 36 triggers its ubiquitination leading to its subsequent degradation through the proteasome pathway, and facilitating the mobilization of NF-κB to the nucleus and regulation of responsive genes (82). The process leading to I-xB phosphorylation has recently been the subject of a great deal of study. I-кВ has been found to be activated by a high molecular weight complex, known as I-κB kinase (IKK) (83,84). This complex contains two proteins with leucine-zipper and helix-turn-helix motifs (called IKK-1, and IKK-2), which can heterodimerise (85,86). Once activated by an upstream kinase, IKK phosphorylates I-κB at serines 32 and 36, which triggers its degradation. A kinase which may be responsible for activating IKK was recently discovered (87). This protein, NIK, shares homology with several MAP kinase kinase kinases, including MEKK1. NIK interacts with Traf2 - a TNF-receptor associated factor that binds to the p55 and p75 TNF receptors, and might therefore be involved with TNFa-mediated activation of NF-κB (88). On the other hand, MEKK1, the upstream activator of JNK has been shown to activate NF-κB In vitro and in vivo. This seems to occur through MEKK1 phosphorylation of the molecular weight I-κB-kinase complex, responsible for the ubiquitin-dependent phosphorylation of I-κB, prior to its degradation and NFκB activation (82,83,89). The activation of IKK-1 and IKK-2 can be detected in LPS stimulated macrophages (V. Kravchenko, personal communication). However, the

function of MEKK1 in septic shock and the signaling elements upstream of IKK in LPS-mediated activation of NF- κ B remain uncertain. Nevertheless, LPS-stimulated NF- κ B activation was found to be dependent both on proteasome and tyrosine kinase activity (90,91), suggesting that phosphorylation mediated protein degradation of I- κ B is used by LPS to activate NF- κ B.

Despite the ability of PKC and other kinases to phosphorvlate I-κB *In vitro*, specific inhibition of MAPK. PKC, PKA, cGMP-dependent protein kinase, or calmodulin-dependent protein kinase has been reported not to prevent NF-κB activation in response to LPS in a cellfree system (91). Not only does NF-κB inhibition repress the LPS-stimulated expression of COX-2 in macrophages, selective inhibitors of ERK1/2 and p38 (not JNK) cause a depression in COX-2 expression. While this suggests that NF-kB activation is not the sole regulatory element controlling the expression of these inflammatory molecules. activation of MAP cascades by hydrogen peroxide, sorbitol, or PMA did not result in COX-2 synthesis indicating the importance of simultaneous activation of multiple pathways. Interestingly, in COS-1 cells the expression of p38 leads to the suppression of TNF-induced I-κB phosphorylation, demonstrating an interaction between MAP kinase pathways and NF-κB (92). The coordination and interaction of MAP kinase pathways and NF-κB cascade may play a key role in LPS induced gene expression.

7. MISCELLANEOUS EFFECTS OF LPS

The majority of effort has concentrated on dissecting LPS induced pathways with macrophages, since they are considered to be the primary mediators of endotoxin shock. However, endothelial cells have also been shown to react directly to endotoxin. Schumann et al. (93) demonstrated that endotoxin may exert a direct effect on endothelial cells through a measured increase in protein tyrosine kinase activity, ERK1 and p38, in a human umbilical vein endothelial cell line. Stimulation of the p38 cascade in endothelial cells has been shown to result in the expression of the vascular adhesion molecule 1, VCAM-1 on the cell surface (94). Expression of TNFα from leukocytes in response to LPS could also result in increased expression of both VCAM-1 (through the MAP kinase cascade) and intercellular adhesion molecule 1, ICAM-1, which can also be activated by the lipid-A component of Gram negative cell walls, though not by LPS itself (93,94). It has also been observed that LPS may activate ceramide activated protein kinase (CAK), and that this may occur through molecular mimicry. CAK is a membrane bound kinase that may directly activate ERK and JNK cascades (95). The lipid-A fraction of LPS shares regional homology with ceramide, and it therefore suggested that this may mimic the secondary messenger function of ceramide, leading to activation of MAPK pathways (96,97). LPS has also been reported to induce the myristolation of macrophage proteins, a response which is absent in C3H/HeJ mice, and may be important in LPS-mediated signaling (98).

It is also should be noticed that activation of a pathway in response to LPS leads to the secretion of molecules, such as TNF and IL-1, which then rebind cell surface receptors and elicit an autocrine response -activating other kinase pathways. C3H/HeJ mutant mice are a useful model for dissecting LPS effects within cells, because the responsiveness of this mouse to cytokines is normal. Transgenic mice deficient in the p55 TNF-receptor, one of the receptors for TNF α , are more resistant to endotoxin treatment than C3H/HeJ mice. These mice resist endotoxin effects at levels more than 1000 times higher than wild-type mice, suggesting that LPS may signal via the TNF-receptor, or (more likely) that a TNF autocrine response is involved in LPS-mediated effects.

8. CONCLUSIONS

A milieu of cellular events occur following exposure to LPS, and it is clear that a number of signaling pathways become active, including the ERK, JNK and p38 kinase pathways, and NF- κ B activation pathway. These pathways lead in turn to the activation of transcription factors such as AP-1 and NF- κ B which control cytokine expression. It is probable that LPS effects are mediated in part through the convergence of separate pathways onto cellular targets. LPS-stimulated effects have also been reported to be largely CD14-dependent. However, the events which immediately follow binding of LPS/LPB to CD14, and which lead to the activation of kinase cascades still remain to be resolved.

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health Grants GM51417, AI41637 and American Heart Association Grant-in-Aid 95007690. J. Han is an established investigator of the American Heart Association.

10. REFERENCES

1.Parillo JE: Pathogenic Mechanisms of Septic Shock. *N Engl J Med* 328, 1471-7 (1993)

2.Glauser MP, Zanetti G, Baumgartner J-D, Cohen J: Septic shock: pathogenesis. *Lancet* 338, 732-6 (1991) 3.Ulevitch RJ & Tobias PS: Receptor-dependent mechanisms of cell stimulation by bacterial endotoxin. *Annu Rev Immunol* 13, 437-57 (1995)

4.Malhotra R & Bird MI: L-selectin: a novel receptor for lipopolysaccharide and is potential in bacterial sepsis. *BioEssays* 19, 919-23 (1998)

5.Johnston RB, Jr. Monocytes and macrophages. N Engl J Med (1991)

6.Beutler B & Cerami A: Tumor necrosis, cachexia, shock, and inflammation: A common mediator. *Ann Rev Biochem* 57, 505-18 (1988)

- 7.Tracey KJ, Beutler B, Lowry SF, Merryweather J, Wolpe S, Milsark IW, Hariri RJ, Fahey TJ, III., Zentella A, Albert JD, Shires GT, Cerami A: Shock and tissue injury induced by recombinant human cachectin. *Science* 234, 470-4 (1986)
- 8.Liu SF, Ye X, Malik AB: *In vivo* inhibition of nuclear factor κ B activation prevents inducible nitric oxide synthase expression and systemic hypotension in a rat model of septic shock. *J Immunol* 159, 3976-1983 (1997)
- 9.Robinson MJ & Cobb MH: Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 9, 180-6 (1997)
- 10. Kyriakis JM, Banerjee P, Nikolakaki E, Dai T, Rubie EA, Ahmad MF, Avruch J, Woodgett JR: The stress-activated protein kinase subfamily of c-Jun kinases. *Nature* 369, 156-60 (1994)
- 11.Derijard B, Hibi M, Wu I, Barrett T, Su B, Deng T, Karin M, Davis RJ: JNK1: A protein kinase stimulated by UV light and Ha-Ras that binds and phosphorylates the c-Jun activation domain. *Cell* 76, 1025-37 (1994)
- 12.Zhou G, Bao ZQ, Dixon JE: Components of a new human protein kinase signal transduction pathway. *J Biol Chem* 270, 12665-9 (1995)
- 13.Lee J-D, Ulevitch RJ, Han J: Primary structure of BMK1:A new mammalian MAP kinase. *Biochem Biophys Res Comm* 213, 715-24 (1995)
- 14.Han J, Lee J-D, Bibbs L, Ulevitch RJ: A MAP kinase targeted by endotoxin and hyperosmolarity in mammalian cells. *Science* 265, 808-11 (1994)
- 15.Rouse J, Cohen P, Trigon S, Morange M, Alonso-Llamazares A, Zamanillo D, Hunt T, Nebreda AR: A novel kinase cascade triggered by stress and heat shock that stimulates MAPKAP kinase-2 and phosphorylation of the small heat shock proteins. *Cell* 78, 1027-37 (1994)
- 16.Freshney NW, Rawlinson L, Guesdon F, Jones E, Cowley S, Hsuan J, Saklatvala J: Interleukin-1 activates a novel protein kinase cascade that results in the phosphorylation of Hsp27. *Cell* 78, 1039-49 (1994)
- 17.Davis RJ: The mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathway. *J Biol Chem* 268, 14553-6 (1993)
- 18.Fanger GR, Gerwins P, Widmann C, Jarpe MB, Johnson GL: MEKKs, GCKs, MLKs, PAKs, TAKs, and Tpls: upstream regulators of the c-Jun amino-terminal kinases? *Current Opin Genet Dev* 7, 67-74 (1997)
- 19.Su B & Karin M: Mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades and regulation of gene expression. *Curr Opin Immunol* 8, 402-11 (1996)
- 20. Waskiewicz AJ & Cooper JA: Mitogen and stress response pathways: MAP kinase cascades and

- phosphatase regulation in mammals and yeast. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 7, 798-805 (1995)
- 21. Weinstein SL, Gold MR, DeFranco AL: Bacterial lipopolysaccharide stimulates protein tyrosine phosphorylation in macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88, 4148-52 (1991)
- 22. Weinstein SL, Sanghera JS, Lemke K, DeFranco AL, Pelech SL: Bacterial lipopolysaccharide induces tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases in macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 267, 14955-62 (1992)
- 23. Waskiewicz AJ, Flynn A, Proud CG, Cooper JA: Mitogen-activated protein kinases activate the serine/threonine kinases Mnk1 and Mnk2. *EMBO J* 16, 1909-20 (1997)
- 24.Fukunaga R & Hunter T: MNK1, a new MAP kinase-activated protein kinase, isolated by a novel expression screening method for identifying protein kinase substrates. *EMBO J* 16, 1921-33 (1997)
- 25.Sithanandam G, Latif F, Duh FM, Bernal R, Smola U, Li H, Kuzmin I, Wixler V, Geil L, Shrestha S, Lloyd PA, Bader S, Sekido Y, Tartof KD, Kashuba VI, Zabarovsky ER, Dean M, Klein G, Lerman MI, Minna JD, Rapp UR, Allikmets R: 3pK, a new mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase located in the small cell lung cancer tumor suppressor gene region. *Mol Cell Biol* 16, 868-76 (1996)
- 26.Geppert TD, Whitehurst CE, Thompson P, Beutler B: Lipopolysaccharide signals activation of tumor necrosis factor biosynthesis through the Ras/Raf-1/MEK/MAPK pathway. *Mol Med* 1, 93-103 (1994)
- 27.Reimann T, Buscher D, Hipskind RA, Krautwald S, Lohmann-Matthes M, Baccarini M: Lipopolysaccharide induces activation of the Raf-1/MAP kinase pathway. A putative role for Raf-1 in the induction of the IL-1β and the
- TNF-α genes. J Immunol 153, 5740-9 (1994)
- 28.Hambleton J, Weinstein SL, Lem L, DeFranco AL: Activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in bacterial lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93, 2774-8 (1996)
- 29.Sanghera JS, Weinstein SL, Aluwalia M, Girn J, Pelech SL: Activation of multiple proline-directed kinases by bacterial lipopolysaccharide in murine macrophages. *J Immunol* 156, 4457-65 (1996)
- 30.Gille H, Sharrocks AD, Shaw PE: Phosphorylation of transcription factor p62TCF by MAP kinase stimulates ternary complex formation at c-fos promoter. *Nature* 358, 414-7 (1992)

- 31.Gupta S, Campbell D, Derijard B, Davis RJ: Transcription Factor ATF2 regulation by the JNK signal transduction pathway. *Science* 267, 389-93 (1995)
- 32.Karin M; & Hunter T; Transcriptional control by protein phosphorylation: signal transmission from the cell surface to the nucleus. *Curr Biol* 5, 747 (1995)
- 33.Yao J, Mackman N, Edgington TS, Fan S: Lipopolysaccharide induction of the tumour necrosis factor-a promoter in human monocytic cells: regulation by Egr-1, c-Jun, and NF-κB transcription factors. *J Biol Chem* 272, 17795-801 (1997)
- 34.Derijard B, Raingeaud J, Barrett T, Wu I, Han J, Ulevitch RJ, Davis RJ: Independent human MAP kinase signal transduction pathways defined by MEK and MKK isoforms. *Science* 267, 682-5 (1995)
- 35.Tournier C, Whitmarsh AJ, Cavanagh J, Barrett T, Davis RJ: Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 7 is an activator of the c-Jun-NH₂-terminal kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 7337-42 (1997)
- 36.Yan M, Dal T, Deak JC, Kyriakis JM, Zon LI, Woodgett JR, Templeton DJ: Activation of stress-activated protein kinase by MEKK1 phosphorylation of its activator SEK1. *Nature* 372, 798-800 (1994)
- 37.Han J, Lee JD, Tobias PS, Ulevitch RJ: Endotoxin induces rapid protein tyrosine phosphorylation in 70Z/3 cells expressing CD14. *J Biol Chem* 268, 25009-14 (1993)
- 38.Lee JC, Laydon JT, McDonnell PC, Gallagher TF, Kumar S, Green D, McNulty D, Blumenthal MJ, Heyes RJ, Landvatter SW, Strickler JE, McLaughlin MM, Siemens I, Fisher S, Livi GP, White JR, Adams JL, Young PR: Identification and characterization of a novel protein kinase involved in the regulation of inflammatory cytokine biosynthesis. *Nature* 372, 739-46 (1994)
- 39.Jiang Y, Chen C, Li Z, Guo W, Gegner JA, Lin S, Han J: Characterization of the structure and function of a new mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 β). *J Biol Chem* 271, 17920-6 (1996)
- 40.Lechner C, Zahalka MA, Giot J-F, Moler NPH, Ullrich A: ERK6, a mitogen-activated protein kinase involved in C2C12 myoblast differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93, 4355-9 (1996)
- 41.Mertens S, Craxton M, Goedert M: SAP kinase-3, a new member of the family of mammalian stress-activated protein kinases. *FEBS Lett* 383, 273-6 (1996)
- Li Z, Jiang Y, Ulevitch RJ, Han J. The primary structure of p38gamma: A new member of p38 group of MAP kinase. [In Press] Biochem Biophys Res Comm 1996;
- 43.Goedert M, Cuenda A, Craxton M, Jakes R, Cohen P: Activation of the novel stress-activated protein kinase

- SAPK4 by cytokines and cellular stresses is mediated by SKK3 (MKK6); comparison of its substrate specificity with that of other SAP kinases. *EMBO J* 16, 3563-71 (1997)
- 44.Jiang Y, Gram H, Zhao M, New L, Gu J, Feng L, Padova F, Ulevitch R, Han J: Charachaterization of the structure and function of the fourth member of p38 group MAP kinase-p38delta. *J Biol Chem* 272, 30122-8 (1997)
- 45.Wang XS, Diener K, Manthey CL, Wang S, Rosenzweig B, Bray J, Delaney J, Cole CN, Chan-Hui PY, Mantlo N, Lichenstein HS, Zukowski M, Yao Z: Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. *J Biol Chem* 272, 23668-74 (1997)
- 46.Brewster JL, de Valoir T, Dyer ND, Winter E, Gustin MC: An osmosensing signal transduction pathway in yeast. *Science* 259, 1760-3 (1993)
- 47.Shiozaki K & Russell P: Cell-cycle control linked to extracellular environment by MAP kinase pathway in fission yeast. *Nature* 378, 739-43 (1995)
- 48.Millar JB, Buck V, Wilkinson MG: Pyp1 and Pyp2 PTPases dephosphorylate an osmosensing MAP kinase controlling cell size at division in fission yeast. *Genes Dev* 9, 2117-30 (1995)
- 49.Zhang S, Han J, Sells MA, Chernoff J, Knaus UG, Ulevitch RJ, Bokoch GM: Rho family GTPases regulate p38 MAP kinase through the downstream mediator Pak1. *J Biol Chem* 270, 23934-6 (1995)
- 50.Minden A, Lin A, Claret F-X, Abo A, Karin M: Selective activation of the JNK signaling cascade and c-Jun transcriptional activity by the small GTPases Rac and Cdc42Hs. *Cell* 81, 1147-57 (1995)
- 51.New L & Han J: The p38 MAP kinase pathway and it function. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* (1998)
- 52.Wang X-Z & Ron D: Stress-induced phosphorylation and activation of the transcription factor CHOP (GADD153) by p38 MAP kinase. *Science* 272, 1347-9 (1996)
- 53.Han J, Jiang Y, Li Z, Kravchenko VV, Ulevitch RT: Activation of the transcription factor MEF2C by the MAP kinase p38 in inflammation. *Nature* 386, 296-9 (1997)
- 54.Janknecht R & Hunter T: Convergence of MAP kinase pathways on the ternary complex factor Sap-1a. *EMBO J* 16, 1620-7 (1997)
- 55. Whitmarsh AJ, Yang SH, Su MS, Sharrocks AD, Davis RJ: Role of p38 and JNK mitogen-activated protein kinases in the activation of ternary complex factors. *Mol Cell Biol* 17, 2360-71 (1997)
- 56.Price MA, Cruzalegui FH, Treisman R: The p38 and ERK MAP kinase pathways cooperate to activate Ternary

- complex factors and c-fos transcription in response to UV light. EMBO J 15, 6552-63 (1996)
- 57.Kramer RM, Roberts EF, Um SL, Borsch-Haubold AG, Watson SP, Fisher MJ, Jakubowski JA: p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphorylates cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2) in thrombin-stimulated platelets. Evidence that proline-directed phosphorylation is not required for mobilization of arachidonic acid by cPLA2. *J Biol Chem* 271, 27723-9 (1996)
- 58.McLaughlin MM, Kumar S, McDonnell PC, Van Horn S, Lee JC, Livi GP, Young PR: Identification of mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinase-activated protein kinase-3, a novel substrate of CSBP p38 MAP kinase. *J Biol Chem* 271, 8488-92 (1996)
- 59.Ludwig S, Engel K, Hoffmeyer A, Sithanandam G, Neufeld B, Palm D, Gaestel M, Rapp UR: 3pK, a novel mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase-activated proteinX kinase, is targeted by three MAP kinase pathways. *Mol Cell Biol* 16, 6687-97 (1996)
- New L, Jiang Y, Zhao M, et al. The PRAK a novel p38 regulated protein kinase. [In Press] EMBO 1998;
- 61.Cuenda A, Rouse J, Doza YN, Meier R, Cohen P, Gallagher TF, Young PR, Lee JC: SB 203580 is a specific inhibitor of a MAP kinase homologue which is stimulated by cellular stresses and interleukin-1. *FEBS Lett* 364, 229-33 (1995)
- 62.Lee JC & Young PR: Role of CSB/p38/RK stress response kinase in LPS and cytokine signaling mechanisms. *J Leukocyte Biol* 59, 152-7 (1996)
- 63.Perregaux DG, Dean D, Cronan M, Connelly P, Gabel CA: Inhibition of interleukin-1 β production by SKF86002: evidence of two sites of *In vitro* activity and of a time and system dependence. *Mol Pharmacol* 48, 433-42 (1995)
- 64.Schumann RR, Pfeil D, Freyer D, Buerger W, Lamping N, Kirschning CJ, Goebel UB, Weber JR: Lipopolysaccharide and pneumococcal cell wall components activate the mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) erk-1, erk-2, and p38 in Astrocytes. *GLIA* 22, 295-305 (1998)
- 65.Nick JA, Avdi NJ, Gerwins P, Johnson BL, Worthens GS: Activation of a p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in human neutrophils by lipopolysaccharide. *J Immunol* 156, 4867-75 (1996)
- 66.Sandborg RR & Smolen JE: Biology of disease: early biochemical events in leukocyte activation. *Lab Invest* 59, 300-20 (1998)
- 67. Huot J, Houle F, Marceau F, Landry J: Oxidative stress-induced actin reorganization mediated by the p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase/heat shock protein 27 pathway in vascular endothelial cells. *Circ Res* 80, 383-92 (1997)

- 68.Robertson LM, Kerpolla TK, Vendrell M, Luk D, Smeyne RJ, Bocchiaro C, Morgan JI, Curran T: Regulation of c-fos expression in transgenic mice requires multiple interdependent transcription control elements. *Neuron* 14, 241-52 (1995)
- 69.Hazzalin CA, Cano E, Cuenda A, Barratt MJ, Cohen P, Mahadevan LC: p38/RK is essential for stress-induced nuclear responses: JNK/SAPKs and c-Jun/ATF-2 phosphorylation are insufficient. *Curr Biol* 6, 1028-31 (1996)
- 70.Nishizuka Y: Intracellular signalling by hydrolysis of phospholipids and activation of protein kinase C. *Science* 258, 607-14 (1992)
- 71.Kozak W, Klir JJ, Conn CA, Kluger MJ: Attenuation of lipopolysaccharide fever in rats by protein kinase C inhibitors. *Am J Physiol* 273, R873-9 (1997)
- 72.Coffey RG, Weakland LL, Alberts VA: Paradoxical stimulation and inhibition by protein kinase C modulating agents of lipopolysaccharide evoked production of tumour necrosis factors in human monocytes. *Immunology* 76, 48-54 (1992)
- 73.Shapira L, Takashiba S, Champagne C, Amar S, Van Dyke TEV: Involvement of protein kinase C and protein tyrosine kinase in lipopolysaccharide-induced TNF α and IL- β production in human monocytes. *J Immunol* 153, 1818-24 (1994)
- 74.Herra-Velit P, Knutson KL, Reiner NE: Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase dependent activation of protein kinase C- ζ in bacterial lipopolysaccharide-treated human monocytes. *J Biol Chem* 272, 16445-52 (1997)
- 75.Nakanishi H, Brewer KA, Exton JH: Activation of the ζ isozyme of protein kinase C by phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. *J Biol Chem* 268, 13-6 (1993)
- 76.Shapira L, Sylvia VL, Halabi A, Sosolne WA, Van Dyke TE, Dean DD, Boyan BD, Schwarz Z: Bacterial lipopolysaccharide induces early and late activation of protein kianse C in inflammatory macophages by selective activation of PKC-ε *Biochem Biophys Res Comm* 240, 629-34 (1997)
- 77.Liyanage M, Frith D, Livneh E, Stabel S: Protein kinase C group B members PKC-delta, ε, ζ and PKC-L(nu): comparison of properties of recombinant proteins *In vitro* and in vivo. *Biochem J* 283, 781-7 (1992)
- 78.Stefanova I, Corcoran ML, Horak EM, Wahl LM, Bolen JB, Horak ID: Lipopolysaccharide induces activation of CD14-associated protein tyrosine kinase p53/56lyn. *J Biol Chem* 268, 20725-8 (1993)
- 79.Meng F & Lowell C: Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced macrophage activation and signal transduction in the absence of src-family kinases Hck, Fgr, and Lyn. *J Exp Med* 185, 1661-70 (1997)

- 80.Ding A, Hwang S, Lander HM, Xie Q: Macrophages derived from C3H/HeJ (Lpsd) mice respond to bacterial lipopolysaccharide by activating NF-κB. *J Leukocyte Biol* 57, 174-9 (1995)
- 81.Baeuerle PA & Baltimore D: NF-κB: Ten years after. *Cell* 87, 13-20 (1996)
- 82.Maniatis T: Catalysis by a multiprotein IκB complex. *Science* 278, 818-9 (1997)
- 83.Chen ZJ, Parent L, Maniatis T: Site-specific phosphorylation of IkBa by a novel ubiquitination-dependent protein kinase activity. *Cell* 84, 853-62 (1996)
- 84.Regnier CH, Song HY, Gao X, Goeddel DV, Cao Z, Rothe M: Identification and characterization of an IkB kinase. *Cell* 90, 373-83 (1997)
- 85.Zandi E, Rothwarf DM, Delhase M, Hayakawa M, Karin M: The I κ B kinase complex (IKK) contains two kinase subunits, IKK α and IKK β , necessary for I κ B phosphorylation and NF κ B activation. *Cell* 91, 243-52 (1997)
- 86.Mercurio F, Zhu H, Murray BW, Shevchenko A, Bennett BL, Li JW, Young DB, Barbosa M, Mann M: IKK-1 and IKK-2: Cytokine-activated IκB kinases essential for NF-κB activation. *Science* 278, 860-6 (1997)
- 87.Malinin NL, Boldin MP, Kovalenko AV, Wallach D: MAP3K-realted kinase involved in NF-κB induction by TNF, CD95 and IL-1. *Nature* 385, 540-4 (1997)
- 88.Mallnin NL, Boldin MP, Kovalenko AV, Wallach D: MAP3K-related kinase involved in NF-κB induction by TNF, CD95, and IL-1. *Nature* 385, 540-4 (1997)
- 89.Lee FS, Hagler J, Chen ZJ, Maniatis T: Activation of the IκBa kinase complex by MEKK1, a kinase of the JNK pathway. *Cell* 88, 213-22 (1997)
- 90.Griscavage JM, Wilk S, Ignarro LJ: Inhibitors of the proteasome pathway interfere with the induction of nitric oxide synthase in macrophages by blocking activation of transcription factor NF-κB. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 93, 3308-12 (1996)
- 91. Mukaida N, Ishikawa Y, Ikeda N, Fukioka N, Watanabe S, Kuno K, Matsushima K: Novel insight into molecular mechanism of endotoxin shock: biochemical analysis of LPS receptor signaling in a cell-free system targeting NF-κB and regulation of cytokine production/actioin through b2 integrin in vivo. *J Leukocyte Biol* 59, 145-51 (1996)
- 92.Schwenger P, Alpert D, Skolnik EY, Vilcek J: Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase by sodium salicylate leads to inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-induced IkBa phosphosphorylation and degradation. *Mol Cell Biol* 18, 78-84 (1998)

- 93.Schumann RR, Pfeil D, Lamping N, Kirschning C, Scherzinger G, Schlag P, Karawajew L, Hermann F: Lipopolysaccharide induces the rapid tyrosine phosphorylation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases erk-1 and p38 in cultured human vascular endothelial cells requiring the presence of soluble CD14. *Blood* 87, 2805-14 (1996)
- 94.Pietersma A, Tilly BC, Gaestel M, de Jong N, Lee JC, Foster JF, Sluiter W: p38 mitogen activated protein kinase regulates endothelial VCAM-1 expression at the post-transcriptional level. *Biochem Biophys Res Comm* 230, 44-8 (1997)
- 95.Hannin YA: Functions of ceramide in coordinating cellular responses to stress. *Nature* 274, 1855-9 (1996)
- 96.Joseph CK, Wright SD, Bornmann WG, Randolph JT, Kumar ER, Bittman R, Liu J, Kolesnick RN: Bacterial lipopolysaccharide has structural similarity to ceramide and stimulates ceramide-activated protein kinase in myeloid cells. *J Biol Chem* 269, 17606-10 (1994)
- 97.Barber SA, Perera P-Y, Vogel SN: Defective ceramide response in C3H/HeJ (Lpsd) macrophages. *J Immunol* 155, 2303-5 (1995)
- 98.Aderem AA, Keum MM, Pure E, Cohn ZA: Bacterial lipopolysaccharides, phorbol myristate acetate, and zymosan induce the myristoylation of specific macrophage proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 83, 5817-21 (1986)
- **Key words:** MAP kinases, ERK kinases, JNK kinases, p38, Src kinases, Protein kinase C, NF-κB, TNF

Send correspondence to: Jiahuai Han, Dept. Immunology, The Scripps Research Unit, 10550 North Torrey Pines Road, La Jolla, CA 92037. Tel: (619)-784-8704, Fax: 619-784-8239, E-mail: jhan@scripps.edu